

Technical Update on High-Voltage Direct-Current System Model Development

3002010755

Technical Update on High-Voltage Direct-Current System Model Development

3002010755

Technical Update, November 2017

EPRI Project Manager

A. Gaikwad

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITIES

THIS DOCUMENT WAS PREPARED BY THE ORGANIZATION(S) NAMED BELOW AS AN ACCOUNT OF WORK SPONSORED OR COSPONSORED BY THE ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE, INC. (EPRI). NEITHER EPRI, ANY MEMBER OF EPRI, ANY COSPONSOR, THE ORGANIZATION(S) BELOW, NOR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY OF THEM:

(A) MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, (I) WITH RESPECT TO THE USE OF ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS DOCUMENT, INCLUDING MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR (II) THAT SUCH USE DOES NOT INFRINGE ON OR INTERFERE WITH PRIVATELY OWNED RIGHTS, INCLUDING ANY PARTY'S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, OR (III) THAT THIS DOCUMENT IS SUITABLE TO ANY PARTICULAR USER'S CIRCUMSTANCE; OR

(B) ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES OR OTHER LIABILITY WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING ANY CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, EVEN IF EPRI OR ANY EPRI REPRESENTATIVE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES) RESULTING FROM YOUR SELECTION OR USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS DOCUMENT.

REFERENCE HEREIN TO ANY SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL PRODUCT, PROCESS, OR SERVICE BY ITS TRADE NAME, TRADEMARK, MANUFACTURER, OR OTHERWISE, DOES NOT NECESSARILY CONSTITUTE OR IMPLY ITS ENDORSEMENT, RECOMMENDATION, OR FAVORING BY EPRI.

THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATION(S), UNDER CONTRACT TO EPRI, PREPARED THIS REPORT:

Power and Energy, Analysis, Consulting and Education, PLLC

This is an EPRI Technical Update report. A Technical Update report is intended as an informal report of continuing research, a meeting, or a topical study. It is not a final EPRI technical report.

NOTE

For further information about EPRI, call the EPRI Customer Assistance Center at 800.313.3774 or e-mail askepri@epri.com.

Electric Power Research Institute, EPRI, and TOGETHER...SHAPING THE FUTURE OF ELECTRICITY are registered service marks of the Electric Power Research Institute, Inc.

Copyright © 2017 Electric Power Research Institute, Inc. All rights reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The following organization(s), under contract to the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), prepared this report:

Power and Energy, Analysis, Consulting and Education, PLLC 2221 Justin Rd #119-414 Flower Mound TX 75028

Principal Investigator P. Pourbeik

This report describes research sponsored by EPRI. EPRI would like to acknowledge the support of the following organizations:

Ameren Services Company Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp. CenterPoint Energy Houston Electric, LLC **CPS** Energy Duke Energy Corp. Entergy Services, Inc. FirstEnergy Service Co. Great River Energy Hawaiian Electric Hoosier Energy Rural Electric Coop., Inc Hydro One Networks, Inc. Lincoln Electric System Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. Nebraska Public Power District New York ISO New York Power Authority PJM Interconnection, LLC Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and Power District Sarawak Energy Berhad Southern Company Southwest Power Pool, Inc. Tri-State Generation and Transmission Association, Inc. Xcel Energy Services, Inc.

In addition, EPRI wishes to acknowledge the Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) High-Voltage Direct-Current Task Force as a forum through which this work has been made public and coordinated with many stakeholders include software and equipment vendors.

This publication is a corporate document that should be cited in the literature in the following manner:

Technical Update on High-Voltage Direct-Current System Model Development: Product Subtitle. EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 2017. 3002010755.

ABSTRACT

With increasing integration of renewable energy systems worldwide, there continues to be an increasing consideration given to deploying flexible ac transmission systems (FACTS) such as static var compensation devices, and high-voltage direct-current (HVDC) transmission systems. Because these devices are becoming more prevalent, there is a present need for updated models for system planning studies for FACTS devices and HVDC systems.

EPRI has been a key participant and major contributor in various industry groups such as the Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) Static Var Compensator (SVC) Task Force and the WECC High-Voltage Direct-Current (HVDC) Task Force. In collaboration with these WECC groups a set of three generic Static Var System (SVS) models were developed back in 2011, and have subsequently been adopted and released in the major commercially available power system simulation software tools. Since 2015, EPRI has been working similarly to develop basic planning level models for HVDC technologies. This report provides an update on the finalizing of the line-commutate converter (LCC) based HVDC models developed, which have now been fully adopted, tested and industry approved, and the continued progress of the work on the voltage-source converter (VSC) based HVDC models.

EPRI's participation and active engagement in these broader industry efforts helps to ensure acceptance of the models by all the major stakeholders and that the models are adopted by the commercial tool sets that are used by the utility industry.

Keywords

HVDC modeling Line-Commutate Converter (LCC)

CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | V |
|---|------------|
| 1 INTRODUCTION | 1-1 |
| 2 BENCHMARK TESTING AND FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LCC-HVDC DYNAMIC MO | DEL 2-1 |
| 2.1 Test Procedure for the CHVDC2 Model | 2-2 |
| 2.2 Test Results for the CHVDC2 Model Across Three Software Platforms | 2-7 |
| 3 CONTINUED WORK OF THE VSC HVDC DYNAMIC MODEL | 3-1 |
| 4 SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND CONTINUED WORK | 4-1 |
| 5 REFERENCES | 5-1 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1: Simple CIGRE benchmark case. | 2-2 |
|--|------|
| Figure 2: Test case power flow solution | 2-3 |
| Figure 3: Voltage waveforms for Test 3. | 2-6 |
| Figure 4: Voltage waveforms for Test 4. | 2-6 |
| Figure 5: Zoomed in comparison of results for one case across the three (3) software | |
| platforms. | 2-8 |
| Figure 6: Test 1 – inverter side fault (P, Q, Vdc and Idc) | 2-9 |
| Figure 7: Test 1 – inverter side fault (alpha and gamma). | 2-10 |
| Figure 8: Test2 – rectifier side fault (P, Q, Vdc and Idc). | 2-11 |
| Figure 9: Test2 – rectifier side fault (alpha and gamma). | 2-12 |
| Figure 10: Tes3 – inverter side voltage play-back (P, Q, Vdc and Idc) | 2-13 |
| Figure 11: Tes3 – inverter side voltage play-back (alpha and gamma). | 2-14 |
| Figure 12: Tes4 – rectifier side voltage play-back (P, Q, Vdc and Idc) | 2-15 |
| Figure 13: Tes4 – rectifier side voltage play-back (alpha and gamma). | 2-16 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1: Power Flow Data for the Converters | 2-3 |
|---|-----|
| Table 2: Power Flow solution | 2-3 |
| Table 3: CHVDC2 Dynamic Model Parameters | 2-4 |

1 INTRODUCTION

This report documents the continuation of the work under the P40.016 project from 2016, related to the modeling of High-Voltage Direct-Current (HVDC) transmission systems. The P40.016 project is a broad project covering all aspects of transmission system modeling and model validation. This is one of multiple technical updates associated with the P40.016 project for 2017, and is the report that deals with HVDC model development work.

The main accomplishment for 2017 were the following:

- 1. Collaborating with the Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) HVDC Task Force and four of the commercial software vendors in North America to bring the work on the line-commutated converter (LCC) HVDC model development work to fruition. The model was finally implemented by four commercial software vendors¹ and thus created the possibility of developing a benchmark test case to be used for testing across the platforms to demonstrate that the model performs as expected and gives similar response across all the software platforms. Subsequently, the model was approved by the WECC modeling and validation working group (MVWG) during its October 2017 meeting.
- 2. Continued work on the voltage-source converter (VSC) based HVDC dynamic model.

The remainder of this report is organized as follows:

Section 2 summarizes the work done on developing and helping to facilitate testing of the LCC-HVDC simple and standard planning level model, and thus getting the model industry approved.

Section 3 summarizes the continued work relative to the VSC HVDC dynamic model.

Section 4 provides an overall summary, together with a brief outline of the continued efforts in 2018.

¹ EPRI did not fund these commercial software vendors to adopt the model. These entities adopted the model of their own volition and internal funding and thus graciously agreed to test the model in collaboration with EPRI.

2 BENCHMARK TESTING AND FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LCC-HVDC DYNAMIC MODEL

EPRI has been leading the effort for the development of the simple planning level HVDC models under the Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) HVDC Task Force (TF) for the past few years. The WECC HVDC TF is working on developing simple planning models for both power flow and dynamic time-domain simulations in positive sequence software tools for HVDC point-to-point transmission. Models are being developed for both conventional line commutated converter (LCC) HVDC and voltage source converter (VSC) HVDC technology.

The power flow models for LCC HVDC have existed in major commercial software platforms for decades. The VSC power flow model was completed in 2014 [1], and is now available in the main commercial software tools in North America.

In terms of standard and simple planning level models for time-domain dynamic simulation of HVDC, two sets of models are being developed (i) one for LCC HVDC and (ii) another for VSC HVDC. The development, and documentation, of the LCC HVDC dynamic models was completed in 2015, and the detailed specification of this model is covered both in the EPRI 2015 report [2] and publicly on the WECC modeling and validation working group (MVWG) website [3].

At the March, 2015 meeting of the WECC MVWG, it was decided by consensus that the second (*chvdc2*) of the two proposed dynamic model structures for LCC HVDC would be implemented by the commercial software vendors. The commercial software vendors adopt these, and other models, as they are developed at their own volition and cost, and based on user priorities. As such, it took until late summer of this year (2017) for three of the four major commercial software vendors in North America to adopt and implement this model (*chvdc2*) in their tools, ready for testing. In summary,

- 1. PowerTech Labs has indicated that they have implemented a beta version of both *chvdc1* and *chvdc2* (i.e. both simple LCC HVDC models) in their tool TSAT,
- 2. PowerWorld has implemented the *chvdc2* model in their tool Simulator,
- 3. GE has implemented the *chvdc2* model in their tool PSLF, and
- 4. Siemens PIT, as of November 2017, had almost completed implementation of the *chvdc2* model, with a plan to finalize and release the model by year end.

As such, in late summer we developed a test system and proposed test cases to test the *chvdc2* model in all the various software platforms. The details are presented here, and for the benefit of the public and future software vendors who may decide to also adopt the model, the description of the test case and results were also disseminated publicly through the WECC HVDC TF [4]. The results of this testing work, presented below for completeness, illustrate that the model functions well and as expected and gives very similar, if not exactly the same, results across three of the four commercial software platforms. As mentioned above, the fourth software vendor is presently

working to complete the model in their tool and to run these same tests to ensure they can achieve the same results also. This was all presented at the October 2017 meeting of the WECC MVWG, and subsequently the model was approved by the WECC MVWG and is now available in GE PSLF, PowerWorld Simulator and PowerTech Labs TSAT, and soon to be released in Siemens PTI PSS®E. It is also now on the WECC approved modeling list².

2.1 Test Procedure for the CHVDC2 Model

A simple benchmark test case system, based on the CIGRE benchmark case [5], was developed for testing the model. The data for this test case is provided below.



Figure 1: Simple CIGRE benchmark case.

Main Circuit Data

 $R = 5 \Omega$, L = 1193 mH, $C = 26 \mu F$

V = 500 Vdc, I = 2000 A

Each converter has 2 bridges

Power Flow and Dynamics Data:

The power flow data and solution are shown in Table 1, and Figure 2 and Table 2, respectively. The dynamic model parameters are given in Appendix A. The two classical generators at Bus 1 and 4 are identical and modeled using *gencls*, with the following parameters: MVA = 10000, H = 999999, D= 0, Ra = 0 and X''d = 0.18

² <u>https://www.wecc.biz/Reliability/Approved%20Dynamic%20Models%20October%202017.pdf</u>



Figure 2: Test case power flow solution.

| Table | 1: | Power | Flow | Data | for th | e Conv | erters |
|-------|----|-------|------|------|--------|--------|--------|
| | | | | | | | |

| Parameter | Rec | Inv |
|-------------------------|--------|--------|
| Vdiode (per bridge) kV | 0.01 | 0.01 |
| Xcomm (per bridge) Ohms | 6.7 | 6.7 |
| Rtran (per bridge) | 0.0036 | 0.0036 |
| Xtran (per bridge) | 0.18 | 0.18 |
| Vbase AC kV | 230 | 345 |
| Vbase DC kV | 211 | 211 |
| Xfmr MVA | 1200 | 1200 |
| Fxd AC Tap | 1 | 1 |
| Fxd DC Tap | 1 | 1 |
| Adj AC Tap | 1.05 | 1.07 |
| Adj DC Tap | 1 | 1 |
| tap min | 0.95 | 0.93 |
| tap max | 1.05 | 1.07 |
| tap step | 0.01 | 0.01 |
| Max V | 0.9 | 0.9 |
| Min V | 1.1 | 1.1 |
| Xsmooth (mH) | 100 | 100 |

Table 2: Power Flow solution

| BUS-NO | NAME | КV | ТР | VSCHED | V-PU | DEG | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------|------------|-----|---------|--------|--------|--------|----|------|--------|----------|-----------|--------|-------|------|-----|-------|-------|----------|-----------|
| 1 | AC 1 Bus 1 | 345 | 0 | 1.047 | 1.047 | -3.98 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 2 | AC 1 Bus 2 | 345 | 1 | 1.048 | 1.0634 | 3.54 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 3 | AC 2 Bus 1 | 230 | 1 | 1 | 1.012 | -11.28 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 4 | AC 2 Bus 2 | 230 |) (| 1.025 | 1.025 | 0 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| BUS-NO | NAME | кv | ID | ST | Р | Q | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | AC 1 Bus 1 | 345 | 1 | . 1 | -966.5 | 46.1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 4 | AC 2 Bus 2 | 230 |) 2 | 2 1 | 1020.6 | 64.8 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| BUS-NO | NAME | кv | CNV BUS | NAME | кν | ID | ST | TYPE | PSCHED | IDC SCHD | VDC SCHED | PAC | QAC | IDC | VDC | ALPHA | GAMMA | ALPH MIN | GAMMA MIN |
| 3 | AC 2 Bus 1 | 230 | 17 | DC Rec | 422 | 2 | 1 | REC | 1000 | 2000 | 500 | 1000.7 | 454.6 | 2000 | 500 | 16.87 | 15 | 5 | 15 |
| 2 | AC 1 Bus 2 | 345 | 18 | DC Inv | 422 | 1 | 1 | INV | 0 | 2000 | 500 | -979.3 | 568.2 | 2000 | 490 | 15 | 24.45 | 110 | 18 |

The *chvdc2* dynamic model data is presented below in Table 3.

| Parameter | Value | |
|---------------|----------|-----------------------------|
| dcbusr | 17.000 | |
| dcbusi | 18.000 | |
| MW base | 1000.000 | |
| Talpr | 0.020 | |
| Kir | 20.000 | |
| Kor | 10.000 | |
| alpha max ram | 30,000 | |
| Tram | 0.100 | |
| Vram | 0.850 | |
| Ttram | 1 000 | |
| maxc | 0.015 | |
| minc | -0.050 | |
| rmax | 10,000 | |
| rmin | -10.000 | |
| Tr | 0 010 | |
| Talpi | 0.020 | |
| Kii | 20,000 | |
| Kni | 10 000 | |
| Kros | 0 070 | |
| Kref | 3 000 | |
| Tref | 0.010 | |
| Kmax | 0.010 | |
| Tmax | 0.130 | |
| cosmin i | 0.010 | |
| lmav1 | 0.550 | |
| Imax2 | 1 000 | |
| V1 | 0.250 | |
| V2 | 1 150 | |
| Tur | 0.020 | |
| Tdr | 0.020 | |
| Tui | 0.010 | |
| Tdi | 0.030 | |
| Flag | 0.000 | |
| Imax lim | 1 000 | |
| Imin lim | 0 770 | |
| max_err | 0.770 | |
| min err | -0 500 | |
| Tvd | 0.550 | |
| Vac ref | 0.230 | |
| gamma cf | 0.000 | |
| Tcf | 0.000 | |
| | 0.004 | |
| Alnha may r | 70 000 | In GE PSI E these values |
| Alpha min r | 5 000 | are in the new or flow |
| Ide margin r | 0.000 | carde: also de margin is in |
| Alnha min i | 110 000 | Amns not nu as given |
| Ide margin i | 0 100 | hero |
| inc_margin_i | 0.100 | nere. |

Table 3: CHVDC2 Dynamic Model Parameters

With the above test case set-up, the following simulations should be performed:

- 1. Test 1: (integration time step = 0.0005 sec)
 - a. Run for one second with no-disturbance
 - b. Place a fault at bus 1 (inverter side)
 - c. Fault impedance X = 0.005 pu
 - d. Remove fault at 1.05 seconds (i.e. 50 ms fault duration)
 - e. Run to 5 seconds
- 2. Test 2: (integration time step = 0.0005 sec)
 - a. Run for one second with no-disturbance
 - b. Place a fault at bus 4 (rectifier side)
 - c. Fault impedance X = 0.005 pu
 - d. Remove fault at 1.05 seconds (i.e. 50 ms fault duration)
 - e. Run to 5 seconds
- 3. Test 3
 - a. Play the waveforms for voltage (frequency is constant) shown in Figure 3 in as a source at bus 1 (inverter side) and bus 4 (rectifier side), respectively.
 - b. The frequency is constant at 60 Hz on both sides
 - c. The voltage on the rectifier side (bus 4) is constant at its initial value of 1.025 pu
 - d. The voltage on the inverter side (bus 1) is constant at 1.047 pu from 0 to 1.0005 seconds; falls to 0.8 pu from 1.0005 seconds to 1.05 seconds; and is again constant at 1.047 pu from 1.0505 seconds to 2 seconds.
 - e. The waveforms (and the simulation) are sampled at 0.0005 second intervals.
- 4. Test 4
 - a. Play the waveforms for voltage (frequency is constant) shown in Figure 4 in as a source at bus 1 (inverter side) and bus 4 (rectifier side), respectively.
 - b. The frequency is constant at 60 Hz on both sides
 - c. The voltage on the inverter side (bus 1) is constant at its initial value of 1.047 pu
 - d. The voltage on the rectifier side (bus 4) is constant at 1.025 pu from 0 to 1.0005 seconds; falls to 0.8 pu from 1.0005 seconds to 1.05 seconds; and is again constant at 1.025 pu from 1.0505 seconds to 2 seconds.
 - e. The waveforms (and the simulation) are sampled at 0.0005 second intervals.



Figure 3: Voltage waveforms for Test 3.



Figure 4: Voltage waveforms for Test 4.

A few *important notes* are pertinent at this point:

- Although, as is clear from the simulation results since gamma goes to zero, in the case of the inverter fault more than likely there would be commutation failure, for this simulation we deliberately choose *NOT* to emulate commutation failure (by invoking inverter bypass). This is to keep the comparison of the tests as simple as possible.
- The test case is based on the CIGRE benchmark case [5] as a starting point, however, some significant changes were made for our purposes here.
 - The test case in [5] was primarily developed for use in electromagnetic transient (EMT) type programs and so has main circuit data (e.g. specific filter bank elements) which are not relevant to power flow and stability modeling (e.g. the filter banks are represented here as a fixed, lumped shunt capacitor, neglecting filter inductive and resistive elements).
 - $\circ~$ The test case in [5] is based on a 50 Hz system, whereas the one here is a 60 Hz equivalent.
 - Some aspects of the model in [5] are not specified or pertinent to establishing a useful power flow and stability simulation set (e.g. MVA rating and parameters for equivalent generators for the two AC systems) and so these have been defined here using reasonable, assumed, values.
 - Some parameters were changed to result in a more simple and reasonable power flow solution for the test case used here (e.g. lumped capacitors used in [5] to emulate line charging are neglected, and some of the line parameters were rounded off etc.).
 - The power flow direction in our case here is reversed compared to [5]. This is not particularly of much importance or consequence, but should be noted (i.e. in the test case here the inverter is on the 345-kV side).

2.2 Test Results for the CHVDC2 Model Across Three Software Platforms

The results of the test simulations listed above are shown in this section. All the results were obtained using GE PSLFTM, PowerWorld Simulator and PowerTech Labs TSAT. These simulations were performed in September 2017. We performed the initial simulations in GE PSLFTM, and shared the results and test case with the other software vendors, who very graciously then performed the same simulations on their respective platforms and sent the ASCII output files back, which were then used to develop the plots shown here.

In all the plots below the SOLID lines are GE PSLFTM, the DOTTED lines are PowerWorld Simulator and DASHED lines are PowerTech Labs TSAT.

It is difficult to see the difference between the SOLID, DOTTED and DASHED lines below, because the results match quite closely across the three (3) commercial software platforms. Below is a single example (expanded) plot to show that there is some small difference, but this is attributable to unavoidable numerical differences across different software. Thus, clearly the three (3) software platforms match very well and the model behaves as expected. These results were

also observed by the members of the WECC HVDC TF, which include representatives from the major vendors and HVDC equipment, namely, ABB, Siemens, GE and Mitsubishi.



Figure 5: Zoomed in comparison of results for one case across the three (3) software platforms.



Figure 6: Test 1 – inverter side fault (P, Q, Vdc and Idc)

Figure 7: Test 1 – inverter side fault (alpha and gamma).

Figure 8: Test2 – rectifier side fault (P, Q, Vdc and Idc).

Figure 9: Test2 – rectifier side fault (alpha and gamma).

Figure 10: Tes3 – inverter side voltage play-back (P, Q, Vdc and Idc).

Figure 11: Tes3 – inverter side voltage play-back (alpha and gamma).

Figure 12: Tes4 – rectifier side voltage play-back (P, Q, Vdc and Idc).

Figure 13: Tes4 – rectifier side voltage play-back (alpha and gamma).

3 CONTINUED WORK OF THE VSC HVDC DYNAMIC MODEL

The development of the dynamic model for the VSC HVDC is still in progress. In December 2015, a concept was first presented for a simple planning level VSC HVDC model. This concept was further developed in 2016 and presented as a more detailed proposal with block diagrams which were included in last year's report [6], the details of which we will thus not repeat here. By late 2016, work started on implementing this model as a user-written model in GE PSLFTM for testing the concept, but the implementation was not fully completed. As of writing this report, the coding of the user-written model has been completed and initial debugging done to be able to start performing some simulations. However, the model is not yet performing as expected and further debugging and effort is needed to fully complete this first proposal. Once that is done, simulations will be performed on a similar simple test case as for the LCC HVDC model and presented for discussion within the WECC HVDC TF seeking broad industry feedback, particularly from the equipment and software vendors. Once consensus is achieved, the model will then go through a similar process of testing and final approval and release as the LCC HVDC dynamic model. Thus, this work will continue in 2018.

4 SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND CONTINUED WORK

This technical update provides a summary of the work done in 2017 on HVDC model development. As shown, the work on the simple and standard LCC HVDC dynamic model, called *chvdc2*, is now complete. Three (3) major commercial software platforms have already adopted and release the model in their latest software revisions, and tests have shown good agreement across these platforms. A fourth major software platform is expected to complete implementation of the model by year end. The model has also been approved by WECC and placed on WECC's approved dynamic model list.

Work continued on the development of a user-written version, in GE PSLFTM, for an initial proposal for a simple VSC HVDC dynamic model. The model is yet to be completely finalized and tested. This work will continue in 2018.

5 REFERENCES

- [1] *Technical Update on HVDC Modeling*. EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 2014. Product ID 3002003348. <u>https://www.epri.com/#/pages/product/3002003348/</u>
- [2] *Technical Update on HVDC Modeling*. EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 2015. Product ID 3002005743. https://www.epri.com/#/pages/product/3002005743/
- [3] P. Pourbeik, "Final Proposed Model Specification for LCC HVDC", January 16, 2015 (revised 10/7/15, 10/30/15); EPRI Memorandum. <u>https://www.wecc.biz/Administrative/Model%20Specification%20for%20Generic%20LCC-HVDC%20Dynamic%20Model.pdf</u>
- [4] P. Pourbeik, "Proposal for Testing the *chvdc2* Model", August 23, 2017 (Revised 9/11/17; 9/28/17; 10/3/17)
 https://www.wecc.biz/Administrative/Testing%20the%20chvdc2%20model.pdf
- [5] M. Szechtman, T. Wess, C. V. Thio, H. Ring, L. Pilotto, P. Kuffel and K. Mayer, "First Benchmark Model for HVDC Control Studies", CIGRE Report of WG 14.02, Electra Magazine, 1991.
- [6] Technical Update on HVDC Modeling. EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 2016. Product ID 3002008336. https://www.epri.com/#/pages/product/3002008336/

Export Control Restrictions

Access to and use of EPRI Intellectual Property is granted with the specific understanding and requirement that responsibility for ensuring full compliance with all applicable U.S. and foreign export laws and regulations is being undertaken by you and your company. This includes an obligation to ensure that any individual receiving access hereunder who is not a U.S. citizen or permanent U.S. resident is permitted access under applicable U.S. and foreign export laws and regulations. In the event you are uncertain whether you or your company may lawfully obtain access to this EPRI Intellectual Property, you acknowledge that it is your obligation to consult with your company's legal counsel to determine whether this access is lawful. Although EPRI may make available on a case-by-case basis an informal assessment of the applicable U.S. export classification for specific EPRI Intellectual Property, you and your company acknowledge that this assessment is solely for informational purposes and not for reliance purposes. You and your company acknowledge that it is still the obligation of you and your company to make your own assessment of the applicable U.S. export classification and ensure compliance accordingly. You and your company understand and acknowledge your obligations to make a prompt report to EPRI and the appropriate authorities regarding any access to or use of EPRI Intellectual Property hereunder that may be in violation of applicable U.S. or foreign export laws or regulations.

The Electric Power Research Institute, Inc. (EPRI, www.epri.com) conducts research and development relating to the generation, delivery and use of electricity for the benefit of the public. An independent, nonprofit organization, EPRI brings together its scientists and engineers as well as experts from academia and industry to help address challenges in electricity, including reliability, efficiency, affordability, health, safety and the environment. EPRI members represent 90% of the electric utility revenue in the United States with international participation in 35 countries. EPRI's principal offices and laboratories are located in Palo Alto, Calif.; Charlotte, N.C.; Knoxville, Tenn.; and Lenox, Mass.

Together...Shaping the Future of Electricity

© 2017 Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), Inc. All rights reserved. Electric Power Research Institute, EPRI, and TOGETHER...SHAPING THE FUTURE OF ELECTRICITY are registered service marks of the Electric Power Research Institute, Inc.

3002010755